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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND CR!GINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Roanocke College's Main Campus Complex is set on a spacious lawn
generously planted with shrubbery and large shade trees, The park-like
setting contributes to the nineteenth century atmosphere of the grouping.
The focal point of the complex is the Administration Building which is
placed to close the vista at the north end of College Street, the tradition-
al and main entrance to the campus. As originally completed, the Adminis-
tration Building was a brick Greek Revival structure with a three-story,
three-bay center section and two-story, four-bay wings. Each section was
covered by a shallow hipped roof. The center section was fronted by a
tetrastyle Doric Portico without pediment, and topped with a domed cupola sef
on a square base. Unornamented stuccoed pilasters framed the bays in each
wing, and unornamented rectangular chimmey stacks projected from the enta-
blature, just above each of the pilasters. The interior of the center
section was originally divided into a large hall and two recitation rooms on
the first floor, students' rooms on the second and third floors, and a
steward’'s apartment in the basement,

The exterior appearance of the Administration Building was radicall
altered during a 1903 alteration and enlargement. A third story was added
to each of the wings and the whole was covered by a single hipped roof.

The Doric portico was removed and replaced by a tetrastyle Roman Corinthian
one with fluted columns and steep pediment. The pediment was ornamented
with a round window surrounded by richly carved foliated decoration. The
simple pilasters on the wings were substituted with fluted Corinthian
pilasters, and the entablatures received more complex moldings and dentils.
Paneled chimney caps replaced the simple original ones.

Little or no original trim remains in the Administration Building.
Most of the window and door surrounds, as well as the mantels and stairs are

composed of the standard late-nineteenth century type woodwork available from

local woodworking companies. With the addition of the extra floor, the
student's residences were moved to a dormitory, and the upper floors were
occupied with classrooms and laboratories. A suite of executive offices was
set apart at the west end of the building in 1920, and during the summer of
1939 new offices for the student adviser, dean, and registrar were opened at
the east end of the main floor, where they remain today.

Flanking the Administration Building and set perpendicular to it
are simple rectangular three-story brick halls, each with pedimented gables.
The east building, Trout Hall, was completed in 1867, and its exterior
remains largely unchanged. Trout Hall originally had a chapel on the first
floor and a preparatory school was housed on the second. Both Trout Hall
and the west building, Miller Hall (completed in 1857) had their third floorg
reserved for literary societies.. Miller Hall has had a large addition
placed on its west side so that now it is part of a much larger U- shaped
structure.

To the east of Trout Hall is Bittle Hall or the Bittle Memorial
Building, a simple one-story Victorian gothic structure with a gable end
front, The two-bay facade has a simple lancet window and doorway, both
topped with hood moldings. At each corner of the building are buttresses
with octagonal finials. Bittle Hall's sides are four-bays deep and are

ornamented with brick cormices, belt courses, and water tables. The rear
of the building has transepts and a demi-octagonal apse added in 1894.

Little original trim remains on the interior. GCL
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Main Campus Complex of Roanoke College stands as an architectural
focal point not only for the institution it serves, but for the town of
Salem. The visually harmonious but stylistically varied grouping of build-
ings displays the evolution of the area's architectural taste from the mid
nineteenth century through the early twentieth century. The chief building
of the complex, the Administration Building, has become the symbol of the
College, and it is around this venerable structure that much of the College's
history is centered.

Roanoke College was founded in 1842 at Mount Tabor in Augusta County
by two Lutheran pastors, David F, Bittle and Christopher.C. Baugham.

Their intention was to help educate the young men of the western part of
the state. The school was originally known as Virginia Collegiate Institutg
and its first enrollment consisted of only twelve to fifteen men. The two
pastors soon realized that the school should be nearer a center of activity,
and in 1847 they moved it to Salem, Virginia, county seat of Roanoke County.
The Institute became a college in 1853 and was rechartered with a new name
suggested by the county and the nearby river, "Roanoke'.

During its first year in Salem, the school was housed in temporary
quarters, although plans for a permanent home were undertaken immediately.
Contracts for what is now the central portion of what is now called the
Administration Building were awarded on May 19, 1847. James C. Deyerle and
Joseph Deyerle, relatives of the more noted Roanoke County builder,

Benjamin Deyerle, were engaged to execute the brickwork, and T. N. Jordan
was hired to do the carpentry. John Cousins, a Negro, was employed to do
the plastering, though no contract was made with him.

By 1852 the school had grown sufficiently to require the building's
west wing which was added that year. On October 5, 1854, the corner-stone
of the east wing was laid, an event which was considered the corner-stone-
laying of the Administration Building itself. The completed building, with
its Doric portico, pilasters, and cupola was a study in provincial Greek
Revival architecture - a typical example of the dignified '0ld Mains" that J
numerous colleges received in this era of educational expansion. The build
ing lost its original Grecian flavor and received its present, more neo-
classic appearance as a result of an enlargement and remodeling undertaken
in 1903. The plans for the remodeling were provided by Noah Hockmann, a
Salem draughtsman. ‘

Contracts for the two halls flanking the Administration Building were
tet in 1856. The west hall, named for a contributor, Michael Miller, was

Eompleted in 1857. Lack of funds and the War Between the States prevented
he east hall from being completed until 1867. .The east hall was named in
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8. :
honor of John Trout, also a contributor. The college managed to remain open
during the War Between the States, but the enrollment was greatly reduced and
the Administration Building was used as a hospital.

: In 1874 plans were made to construct a library to the east of
Trout Hall which would be named in honor of Andrew Lewis. No further action
was taken until 1876 when the school's co-founder , David Bittle died, and
the decision was made to make the new building & memorial to him. The
handsome but simple Victorian Gothic structure was begun that same year and
was completed in 1879. J. C, Deyerle (possibly the same J. C. Deyerle who
worked on the Administration Building) was employed to do the brickwork, and
H. W. Hundly was contracted with for the carpentry. Noah Hockmann, who was
later placed in charge of the remodeling of the Administration Building
apparently had a hand in Bittle Hall's design. The original portion of the
building was converted into a chapel in 1894 when an annex to house the
library was added to the rear,

The brickwork for the annex was also executed by J. C. Deyerle.
The building is now used as a student center.
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U.S.G.S. 73" quadrangle (scale:1:24000)
Sa.lem, Va. 1963
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